#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NOS. SC09-1181 and SC10-1349

# PUBLIC DEFENDER, ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT OF FLORIDA, ET AL.,

Petitioners,

-VS-

#### THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL L.T. CASE NOS. 3D08-2272 AND 3D08-2537 (Consolidated) AND L.T. 3D09-3023

\_\_\_\_\_

#### INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

\_\_\_\_\_

Hogan Lovells US LLP Parker D. Thomson Julie E. Nevins Sabadell Financial Center 1111 Brickell Avenue, Suite 1900 Miami, Florida 33131 Telephone: (305) 459-6500

Attorneys for Petitioners

###

#### I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

#### A. NATURE OF THE CASE

This is a consolidated appeal of two decisions of the Third District Court of Appeal ("Third District"): *State v. Public Defender, Eleventh Judicial Circuit*, 12 So. 3d 798 (Fla. 3d DCA 2009) ("*Public Defender*"), and *State v. Bowens*, 39 So. 3d 479 (Fla. 3d DCA 2010) ("*Bowens*").

In *Public Defender*, the Third District quashed an order entered by Judge Stanford Blake ("Judge Blake's Order") that acknowledged and accepted a determination made by the Public Defender for the Eleventh Judicial Circuit ("PD11") that existing case overload office-wide required refusal of certain additional indigent representations until the office-wide caseload could be handled in a professionally responsible manner. The trial court credited the evidence proffered by PD11, determined that acceptance of additional cases would create conflicts of interest with representations in existing cases, and granted partial systemic relief, concluding PD11 could temporarily decline appointments to new third-degree felony cases, subject to caseload review every 60 days. The Third District quashed the trial court's order without disagreeing with any of the trial court's factual determinations about PD11's caseload, held that systemic relief was not available to PD11 because this Court's Rules of Professional Conduct only applied to individual lawyers, and held that § 27.5303(1)(d), Fla. Stat., purporting

to prohibit "withdrawal" from existing representation "solely" by reason of excessive caseload ("Statutory Prohibition"), applied equally to declination of new case appointments. The Third District concluded that an individual lawyer only may withdraw from an individual case after she proves "prejudice" or "conflict," even though § 27.5303 does not require proof of prejudice.

In *Bowens*, the Third District reversed a subsequent trial court order by Judge John Thornton ("Judge Thornton's Order"), entered in a case brought by PD11 and an individual assistant public defender in response to the Third District's determination in *Public Defender* that only individual attorneys could seek relief from excessive caseload. This case did involve withdrawal from an existing representation. Judge Thornton approved the withdrawal from a single representation, in order to comply with PD11's and the individual attorney's obligations under the Rules. He determined that PD11's inaction (it had done "virtually nothing") in its representation had prejudiced the client, concluded that the withdrawal was thus not "solely" by reason of excessive caseload, and therefore the prohibition of § 27.5303(1)(d) did not apply and the constitutionality of the Statutory Prohibition was not implicated. The Third District quashed Judge Thornton's Order as well, again without disagreeing with any of the trial court's factual determinations. It principally did so because it believed that the individual public defender had failed to show "actual or imminent" prejudice to his indigent

client's constitutional rights, and therefore could not withdraw due to the prohibition set forth in the Statutory Prohibition. The Third District certified the issue of the constitutionality of § 27.5303(1)(d) to this Court.

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to this Court's Orders dated May 19, 2010 and October 11, 2011.

#### B. INTRODUCTION

The Third District's decisions in *Public Defender* and *Bowens*, taken together, mandate that the Legislature's Statutory Prohibition trumps this Court's Rules of Professional Conduct. The Third District has effectively prohibited the Public Defender, both office-wide and individually, from *ever* withdrawing from the representation of its indigent clients under the Rules of Professional Conduct due to conflicts caused by excessive caseload unless and until such counsel has proved he has already actually prejudiced and harmed his own client. Such a result is not only unacceptable; it is also unconstitutional.

The State of Florida has a constitutional obligation to provide representation to all indigent persons charged with felonies and serious misdemeanors. The Legislature determined that this constitutional obligation should principally be satisfied by creation of an Office of the Public Defender in each judicial circuit. *See* Ch. 63-409, § 1, Laws of Fla. A Public Defender must be a member of The Florida Bar. *See id.* In 1972, the electorate constitutionalized the Public Defender.

See Art. V, § 18, Fla. Const. PD11, now a constitutional officer, continues to have the principal responsibility to satisfy the State's constitutional obligation. The Legislature in 2007 expanded public representation by creating the Office of Criminal Conflict and Civil Regional Counsel ("Regional Counsel"), one for each of the territory of the five district courts of appeal. See Ch. 2007-62, § 1, Laws of Fla. These counsel are intended to handle the cases which the public defenders are unable to handle by reason of conflicts of interest. The Legislature provided for appointment of private counsel if the Regional Counsel is also unable to act. See, e.g., § 27.5303.

In initially deciding that the Public Defender would take the lead in providing representation to indigent defendants, the Legislature set bounds on what matters the Public Defender should handle. *See* § 27.51(1), Fla. Stat. This Court has required strict compliance by the Public Defenders with these bounds. *State ex rel. Smith v. Brummer*, 426 So. 2d 532, 533 (Fla. 1982) (holding public defender lacks the authority to represent a class of indigent defendants for violation of constitutional rights); *State ex rel. Smith v. Brummer*, 443 So. 2d 957, 958-59 (Fla. 1984) (holding public defender lacks the authority to accept appointments from the federal court).

In this consolidated appeal, we are *not* dealing with the decision as to who will satisfy the State's constitutional obligation of indigent representation. Rather,

the issue here is whether this Court's instructions to *all* lawyers—public or private—may be overruled by the Legislature.1/

This Court, in exercise of its constitutional duties, has instructed all lawyers they may not represent any client—paying or indigent—if by doing so, that lawyer would have a conflict of interest with another client. Such conflict may arise when a lawyer's acceptance of additional representation would create a conflict with an existing representation. And this Court has said that such a conflict can be created by an excessive caseload. According to this Court, the lawyer presented with the conflict is the person who must make the determination whether a conflict does or will exist, and if that person is a manager and/or supervisor of other lawyers, as is PD11, that person must make that determination.

As officers of this Court, all lawyers must do what this Court says. Under Florida's Constitution, under this Court's integration of The Florida Bar, and under the time-honored course of Anglo-American law, it is for this Court—not the Legislature—to tell lawyers under what conditions they may and may not represent clients.

We submit that the Third District's two decisions failed to apply these propositions and must be reversed. To the extent the Legislature concluded the

<sup>&</sup>lt;u>1</u>/ PD11 contends that, properly construed, the Statutory Prohibition in question does not overrule the actions approved by the two trial courts, but the Third District construed the statute to preclude these actions, and held that the legislative mandate controls.

issue of lawyer conduct was for it to consider, the Legislature acted beyond its bounds under Florida's Constitution. This consolidated appeal requests that this Court reverse *both* decisions, with directions to remand to the trial courts to act in accordance with the standards this Court may put in place. The effect of this in the *Public Defender* case would be for the trial court to receive PD11's status report which it required every 60 days and to declare whether, and to what extent, its prior remedy remains in effect under present conditions and whatever standards are set forth in its opinion. The effect of this in the *Bowens* case would be for the trial court to determine the individual indigent defendant's present posture and whether the Regional Counsel must assume his defense.

## C. FACTUAL BACKGROUND, COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER TRIBUNAL

1. The Office-Wide Public Defender Case—PD11's Motion To Decline Future Appointments Of Noncapital Felony Cases.

PD11, faced with attrition and a very high caseload, filed a certificate of conflict of interest in all felony sections of the criminal division of the Circuit Court of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit and motions to appoint other counsel to unappointed noncapital felony cases. R1.77-91. 2/ PD11 certified "that accepting further appointments of noncapital felony cases at this time would create a conflict

<sup>2/</sup> Citations to the Record on Appeal in L.T. Case Nos. 3D08-2272 and 3D08-2537 will be by the record volume no. and the page(s) as follows: "R[volume].[page(s)]."

of interest with previously appointed clients and newly appointed clients in cases other than noncapital felonies." R1.91. All the motions were reassigned and consolidated before the administrative judge of the criminal division, the Honorable Stanford Blake. The State Attorney for the Eleventh Judicial Circuit ("SAO11") opposed the motions. R4.378-414. The trial court found that SAO11 had no standing to oppose the motions. R18. 2534, but "allowed SAO-11 great latitude in its participation in th[e] hearing." R18.2534. SAO11 "responded to all PD-11s pleadings and documentary evidence, cross-examined PD-11's witnesses, and presented its own witness in opposition of the evidence presented by PD-11's witnesses." R18.2534.

During a two-day evidentiary hearing, PD11 presented testimony about the operation of the office and the impact PD11's excessive caseloads had on its ability to represent its clients. The parties submitted post-trial memoranda. R15.2030-131, R18.2500-31. The trial court then entered Judge Blake's Order granting in part and denying in part PD11's motions. R18.2532-38. All evidence relating to PD11's actual conditions was unrebutted, and all was credited, directly or inferentially. The unrebutted testimony showed: 3/

<sup>&</sup>lt;u>3/</u> PD11's principal fact witnesses were: Bennett Brummer, former PD11; Carlos Martinez, PD11; Rory Stein, General Counsel, PD11; Stephen Kramer, Assistant Public Defender, PD11; and Amy Weber, Assistant Public Defender, PD11.

- PD11 failed to meet its responsibilities to its clients prior to arraignment. R15.2108 (Brummer).
- The only representation PD11 provided to clients prior to arraignment was through an "Early Representation Unit" which *only* handled cases of incustody clients. R16.2163-64 (Martinez).
- Out-of-custody clients do not speak with a lawyer or have any investigation done on their cases prior to arraignment, making it impossible for PD11 to counsel clients regarding early plea offers. R16.2164-65 (Martinez); R16.2234-35 (Stein).
- Representing a client at arraignment *without* an in-depth interview or investigation is unprofessional. 4/ R17.2396 (Professor Lefstein).

•

Professor Lefstein is a former reporter on the subject of appropriate public 4/ defender workloads for the American Bar Association ("ABA") Standing Committee on Criminal Justice Standards. R17.2370. Regarding PD11's representation of its out-of-custody clients prior to arraignment, Professor Lefstein testified that it was "just the opposite of diligent representation under 1.3." R17.2395. He testified that: "There was the use of a term by [PD11]. . . .that we operate as greet and plead lawyers at the arraignment, and he amplifies that by stating what they end up doing, because they have not really talked to the client at any length, they have not investigated the case, they don't know what the case is about, they know only what the State's Attorney's Office is allowing the defendant to plead to, and in a sizeable number of cases they will tell the defendant, "Here is what the State is offering. I really can't, in effect, advise you what you ought to do, but if you want to plead to it, you can plead to it. . . . That's not defense representation. That's not legal representation. That's a warm body repeating the State's offer." R17.2395-96.

- "[A]ssistant public defenders assigned to handle "A and B" felony cases (life, 1st and 2d degree) are now being appointed to "C" felony cases (3d degree)", which "encompass sixty percent (60%) of all felony filings." R18.2535.

  So are supervising attorneys. *Id.* (Kramer). One lawyer stated "she is in court two out of three weeks because she has "C" felony cases." *Id.* (Weber).
- "C" felony cases are clogging the system and negatively impacting PD-11's felony attorneys' caseload." R18.2535-36. Work was delayed or never completed because of PD11's caseload. R16.2285, 2288 (Kramer); R16.2299 (Weber); *see also id.* at 2262 (Stein). Lawyers had no time to diligently investigate their cases, or schedule *Arthur* hearings or other adversarial preliminary hearings. R16.2285 (Kramer). Lawyers only had on average one hour to interview a client through the duration of a noncapital felony case, including cases with the prospect of 20 to 40 years in prison. R16.2287-89 (Kramer); R16.2294 (Weber). Often there was no time to file motions and the lawyer was often unavailable to take depositions in her cases. R16.2296-97, R16.2299 (Weber).
- Investigation could not be performed on most cases, the lawyers instead relying on non-lawyer investigators. R16.2295-96 (Weber).
- One assistant public defender recounted an example of the impact her caseload had on her representation of one her clients. With 13 trials set on one day, the lawyer failed to convey a plea offer to her client of 364 days in jail with 7-

years probation. As a result, SAO11 revoked the offer, and the client eventually accepted a subsequent offer of five years in prison. R16.2299-302 (Weber).

- Due to the excessive workloads, lawyers often asked for continuances, waiving their clients' rights to a speedy trial within 175 days, which could cause a client's case to linger for years. R16.2283-84 (Kramer); R16.2297-99 (Weber).
- PD11 declined new noncapital felony cases because those are the cases that have the highest impact on workload in the office. R15.2068 (Brummer). Misdemeanor cases were not declined because obtaining comparable relief there would require declining new cases *and* withdrawing from existing cases. R15.2070-71 (Brummer). Further, without a strong misdemeanor caseload, PD11 would be unable to train new attorneys. R15.2125-26 (Brummer).

Judge Blake's Order recognized the judiciary's role is to protect fundamental rights. He noted, "While the court is concerned that there not be chaos in the criminal justice system, the court must also serve as the protector of due process and meaningful representation of the accused." R18.2534. The trial court also observed that, "[p]ublic defenders, like all attorneys, are bound by professional ethical obligations." *Id.* The trial court pointed to the Rules of Professional Conduct as requiring lawyers to "provide competent representation to a client, act with reasonable diligence and promptness in representing a client, and decline or terminate representation if the representation will result in a violation of

the rules." R18.2534 (citing R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-1.1, 4-1.3, 4-1.16). The trial court also recognized that "the rule on conflict of interest requires an attorney to decline a case if there is substantial risk that the representation of one or more clients will be materially limited by the lawyer's responsibilities to another client." *Id.* (citing R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-1.7(a)(2)). Significantly, the court confirmed that the "Public Defender, Bennett Brummer, as manager and supervisor of other lawyers, has a *duty* to ensure that all lawyers in his office conform to the Rules of Professional Conduct." *Id.* (citing R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-5.1) (emphasis added).

Judge Blake's Order concluded that "the assistant public defenders of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit function under extreme and excessive caseloads.

R18.2534-35. He credited the testimony of PD11's General Counsel that, in fiscal year 2007-08, PD11 was appointed to represent indigent defendants in 45,055 new and reopened cases, and PD11 lawyers were handling-office-wide- an average of over 436 noncapital felony cases per year. R10.1231; R15.2049; R16.2139, 2246.

Judge Blake's Order determined that "the caseload of the felony public defenders in the Eleventh Judicial Circuit . . . far exceeds any recognized standard for the maximum number of felony cases a criminal defense attorney should handle annually." R18. 2535. It cited to published standards, including "the National Advisory Commission on Criminal Justice Standards and Goals limit of 150 cases; Florida Governor's Commission Standard limit of 100 cases; Florida

Public Defender's Association limit of 200 cases; and Florida Bench and Bar's limit of 200 cases." R18.2535. It did *not* suggest any of these caseload standards was controlling. Nor did it choose among them, or indicate how "workload" might reduce them. 5/ Rather, it found, based on the evidence in this case, "that the number of active cases is so high that the assistant public defenders are, at best, providing minimal competent representation to the accused." R18.2535. The Order, therefore, concluded that, at that point of time, the office could not handle new cases and still provide "minimal competent representation" to both old and new clients. "[T]he evidence clearly establishes PD-11 is in need of relief sufficient to ensure that the assistant public defenders are able to comply with the Florida Rules of Professional Conduct and to carry out their constitutional duties." R18.2536. "[F]uture appointments to noncapital felony cases [would] create a conflict of interest in cases presently handled by PD-11." R18.2537. 6/

<sup>&</sup>quot;Workload" is distinguished from "caseload" in that caseload is the number of cases assigned to a given lawyer while "workload" is the total of all work performed by that lawyer, including without limitation administrative and supervisory responsibilities. ABA Standards for Criminal Justice, Standard 5-5.3, at 68. Workload usually adjusts caseload downward. R15.2123; R17.2386.

Mr. Stein testified that there is a substantial risk, due to current workloads, that PD11 is making decisions that benefit one client at the expense of another. R16.2262. Professor Lefstein, hearing *all* the testimony, concluded that PD11 is not able to provide competent or diligent representation due to the excessive caseloads and concurred with Mr. Brummer's judgment in certifying a conflict of interest and moving to have other counsel appointed. R17.2394, 2395, 2406, 2407. According to Professor Lefstein, "whether you take 144 or you take 200 or you

Judge Blake's Order denied PD11 the complete relief requested, holding that "PD-11 must continue to perform its full duties in all 'A' and 'B' felony cases...." R18.2537. Rather, it ordered "PD-11 to decline to accept appointments to 'C' felony cases until such time as the Court determines PD-11 is able to resume its constitutional duties with respect to these cases." *Id.* 7/ Declining new cases is an "incremental approach" because it only gradually lowers caseloads as older cases are resolved. R15.2068. Judge Blake's Order mandated a review of PD11's caseload every 60 days to determine when additional cases may be assigned. R18.2537-38.

Judge Blake's Order shows a clear understanding of the judiciary's role. On the record, he recognized the separation of powers mandated by the Florida Constitution, but he confirmed his role was not to order the Legislature to fund PD11 or Regional Counsel. R19.2636. Nor did he mention §27.5303(1)(d),

to

take 150 [referring to various standards in evidence], PD-11 is way over the top." R17.2442.

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