IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA Case Nos. SC09-1181 & SC10-1349

PUBLIC DEFENDER, ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT OF FLORIDA, Petitioner,

v.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA, Respondent.

> ANTOINE BOWENS, Petitioner, v.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA, Respondent.

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

On Discretionary Review from the Third District Court of Appeal

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

B. Under any standard, the systemic en masse withdrawal in this case is insupportable on the record below.

In its motion to the trial court and in its presentation of testimony at the evidentiary hearing, PD-11 relied almost exclusively on its average caseload count

to show that it carried a workload so excessive that withdrawal was required to preserve indigent defendants' constitutional rights. But PD-11 must show that its clients are subject to actual or imminent harm owing to specific deficiencies in counsel's performance before it may withdraw from even one case, let alone 60% of its felony caseload. While PD-11 cites caselaw asserting that the issue presented is justiciable because the Court must protect fundamental rights [IB 41], they showed no instance where the constitutional right to effective representation has been in imminent jeopardy because of the office's caseload. Instead, the evidence presented below and the arguments in the initial brief focus on a lawyer's obligation under Bar rules. PD-11 failed to demonstrate that any violation of or imminent threat to, or even a substantial risk of harm to, the constitutional rights of the indigent criminal defendants it represents.

Furthermore, PD-11 has failed to demonstrate that its caseload is causing any particular instances of incompetent representation. PD-11's own expert acknowledged that no investigation was done to determine whether any assistant public defender provided substandard representation to a client. [R17 2417] No record evidence shows that any of PD-11's attorneys has faced a substantiated claim of professional misconduct or malpractice. PD-11 presented no objective evidence that any client received ineffective assistance of counsel, or that any bar grievance has ever been filed against the office. Indeed, at the hearing it was established that PD-11 has been recognized as recently as 2007 as being one of the best public defender offices in the country.

The standard proposed by the State and adopted by the Third District is not identical to the ineffective assistance of counsel analysis in <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. 668. Evidence of ineffective assistance of counsel claims against PD-11 attorneys that meet the <u>Strickland</u> test, of course, would be a strong indicator of the type of circumstances that could support a withdrawal motion; but the proposed standard here is based on a showing of prejudice as this Court tacitly endorsed in <u>1990</u> <u>Public Defender</u>, 561 So. 2d at 1138, where it found withdrawal was warranted when an appellate backlog "is so excessive that there is no possible way" that cases can be handled timely, thereby harming incarcerated defendants who served their time before their initial appellate briefs were even filed. This type of showing is necessary to preserve the balance of powers under the Constitution.

Aside from the lack of specifics, the evidence that PD-11 did present is not ultimately helpful given its inaccuracies. The usefulness of the numbers that PD-11 actually did provide was undermined by the figures it took into account. As the Third District noted, "there are a number of different ways to count [PD-11's] cases." <u>Public Defender</u>, 12 So. 3d at 802. The average caseload was determined by taking the number of noncapital felony cases in which PD-11 is appointed in a fiscal year, and dividing it by the number of assistants assigned to the felony

divisions. [R17 2436] Using this method, *but applying it only to the cases postarraignment* (where the noncapital felony assistant public defenders do the overwhelming majority of their work),²⁶ the caseload numbers become quite different. The annual caseload statistic declines from over 400 (under PD-11's approach) to approximately 240 cases per attorney, a more manageable level that is within the upper range of some of the proposed caseload standards. Moreover, this more reasonable approach does not include all 95 PD-11 attorneys, only 85 (removing the bond hearing and the ERU attorneys from the equation) thereby showing the malleability of the statistic and its unreliability.

And anecdotal evidence from one assistant public defender is not enough to demonstrate a system wide problem. The only attempt at showing actual client prejudice was the testimony of Assistant Public Defender Amy Weber. She stated that while she was in the middle of a trial she neglected to convey a plea offer to another client and that the offer was withdrawn before she was able to do so. [R16

²⁶ PD-11's witnesses claimed that the starting point for counting cases must be the time of appointment at first appearance, which resulted in a larger number of cases in the numerator of the average caseload statistic. The appropriate starting point for the caseloads of assistant public defenders who handle noncapital felonies, however, is after arraignment. Indeed, Brummer's own testimony supports this position [R15 2093-94], as do the ABA standards PD-11 used in their initial motion, which defined caseload as "the number of cases *assigned* to an attorney at any given time." ABA Standards for Criminal Justice: Providing Defense Services 5-5.3 (3d Ed. 1992) (emphasis added). PD-11 does not assign its noncapital felony cases to the felony assistants until after arraignment. [R15 2097-98]

2300-02] Far from proof of actual constitutional injury, this isolated incident reflects what could happen to any defense attorney at any time. It is simply not enough to justify the conclusion that prejudice to constitutional rights permeates PD-11's operations. The opinions of PD-11 attorneys that the office is not providing competent representation without any particular demonstration of their statements' accuracy lack persuasive value for withdrawal analysis. *See, e.g.,* <u>Routly v. State</u>, 590 So. 2d 397, 401 n.4 (Fla. 1991) (attorney's admission of ineffectiveness lacks persuasive value).

The type of harm that should be shown must be more concrete and specific than the generalized testimony given at the hearing. For instance, if an assistant public defender was able to show that because of excessive workload, and if no other available attorney was in the office, if a defense witness could not be interviewed before that witness was to be permanently unavailable, withdrawal would be appropriate. But general anecdotes showing that attorneys as a whole do not have the time they need to perform their job perfectly is the truth universal for attorneys (at least those in the government) in lean budgetary times, and not necessarily evidence that the attorneys are providing incompetent representation.

C. SAO-11 was improperly denied standing and was unable to present evidence and operate as a true advocate of its position, thereby diminishing the accuracy of the record.

Finally, SAO-11 should have been permitted to appear as a party in this case. Standing "requires a would-be litigant to demonstrate that he or she reasonably expects to be affected by the outcome of the proceedings, either directly or indirectly." Hayes v. Guardianship of Thompson, 952 So. 2d 498, 505 (Fla. 2006). The state is affected when, as here, a court orders relief that dramatically affects state resources, involves the application or constitutionality of a Florida statute, and involves a methodology for calculating an excessive caseload for a state-funded public defender's office. The state has an interest in the potential transfer of thousands of cases to the legislatively-created RCC-3 and potentially from that office to private attorneys. Moreover, section 27.01(2) and article I, section 16(b), Florida Constitution confer, standing on SAO-11 in these types of situations as the representative of crime victims. Contrary to what PD-11 has contended, an assertion of a conflict of interest is not unassailable or taken at face value in every case; instead, it is subject to review and critique, as the caselaw and statutes have made evident.

As the Third District held and this Court recently recognized, "[t]he state attorney has a statutory obligation to 'appear in the circuit and county courts within his or her judicial circuit and prosecute or defend on behalf of the state all suits, applications, or motions, civil or criminal, in which the state is a party.' "Johnson <u>v. State</u>, 2012 WL 16692, at *8 (quoting <u>Public Defender</u>, 12 So. 3d at 801). In <u>Johnson</u>, this Court distinguished the standing of regional conflict counsel in an appellate proceeding in which the public defender sought to withdraw, noting that, by contrast, the state attorney had party status "as well as [a] statutory obligation ... to prosecute or defend on behalf of the State." <u>Id.</u> at *9.

In <u>1994 Public Defender</u>, the Court—over the objection of the public defender—made clear that a detailed inquiry into the operations and practices of a public defender's office is permissible (provided confidential information is not compromised). 636 So. 2d at 22-23. Further, section 27.5303(1)(a) allows a court to hold a hearing on the adequacy of a public defender's representations. The lower court acknowledged that participation by the state attorney was important to a meaningful hearing in this case by conferring it *amicus curiae* status. [R18 2534] Allowing the cross-examination of witnesses and presentation of some evidence while denying party status is illogical and could thwart the state's ability to seek appellate review.

Petitioners and their amici's attempt to reframe this question as one of what entity is best suited to appear opposite the public defender on these motions (i.e., the state attorney versus the attorney general versus the JAC) is fatally flawed. First and foremost, this argument was never formulated in this fashion before the trial court or Third District. It is inappropriate for it to be raised now for the first time. <u>Farinas v. State</u>, 569 So. 2d 425, 429 (Fla. 1990) ("Absent fundamental error, an issue will not be considered for the first time on appeal.").

Moreover, no authority supports the proposition that any entity other than the state attorney should appear at these withdrawal hearings. There is no reason to assume that the state attorney will find more cause to object than any other entity. If sufficient circumstances and evidence for withdrawal is presented, then the state attorney would be wise to, concede that withdrawal is necessary. *See* <u>Hagopian</u>, 18 So. 3d at 634 ("the State did not present any evidence at the hearing in opposition to [the] motion to withdraw").

The standing issue is exceptionally important because the trial court criticized the state's failure to "present any alternative national or Florida caseload standard" or to demonstrate that the management techniques used by public defenders in other circuits to alleviate workloads might apply. [R18 2536] With adequate time (the court denied SAO-11's requests for a longer continuance) and relevant data (PD-11 did not initially provide all necessary data sought in SAO-11's public records requests), SAO-11 might have been able to address concerns the court raised. [R4 369-373; R9 1021-39] Given that the proceedings affect the interests of the State, the Third District properly determined that the state attorneys should have had standing in the trial court proceedings.

II. <u>Bowens should be affirmed because section 27.5303(1)(d), Florida</u> <u>Statutes, is constitutional and because no actual or imminent threat to</u> <u>Bowens's constitutional right of effective counsel was shown.</u>²⁷

A. Section 27.5303(1)(d), Florida Statutes, is constitutional because it permits withdrawal when a public defender's excessive workload is shown to prejudice a defendant's constitutional right to effective counsel.

Bowens asserts that section 27.5303(1)(d), Florida Statutes, is

unconstitutional, on its face and as applied. The trial court rejected his arguments,

and the Third District agreed with the trial court's reasoning and affirmed. For the

reasons that follow, if this Court reaches the merits in this case,²⁸ the Third

District's decision should be affirmed and the statute upheld as constitutional.

Bowens's arguments regarding the constitutionality of section 27.5303 are

answered when the statute is properly construed. Bowens asserts that the statute

²⁷ Standard of review: The constitutionality of the statute is a question of law reviewed de novo. <u>Crist v. Fla. Ass'n of Criminal Defense Lawyers, Inc.</u>, 978 So. 2d 134, 139 (Fla. 2009). Whether the trial court's grant of withdrawal was proper, which was subject to certiorari review in the Third District, is reversible if it departed from the essential requirements of the law. <u>Williams v. Oken</u>, 62 So. 3d 1129, 1132 (Fla. 2011).

²⁸ Rather than reach the merits, the Court may wish to reconsider whether the withdrawal of attorney Kolsky in September 2010, who no longer represents Bowens, renders his motion to withdraw moot. The Third District's decision was entirely dependent on the particular facts of Kolsky's workload and representation of Bowens, making the factual predicate for this case no longer relevant and the issues academic.

deprives public defenders of the ability to withdraw, but the language of the statute makes it clear that excessive workload may be a factor a court may consider, just not the sole factor. As the trial court held:

The use of the word "solely" in Section 27.5303(1)(d) is not a prohibition on consideration of excessive caseload as a factor in an attorney's motion to withdraw; rather the statute intends that other considerations be present. ... When examining the plain language of the statute, as interpreted by the Third District in <u>State v. Public Defender</u>, there exists a cognizable difference between a withdrawal based solely on workload, and a withdrawal where an individualized showing is made that there is a substantial risk that a defendant's constitutional rights may be prejudiced as a result of the workload. This distinction allows for judicial relief where prejudice to constitutional rights is adequately demonstrated.

[A1 8] In contrast, Bowens's interpretation of the statute ignores the word "solely" and misreads it in a way that negates its intent.

As discussed above, excessive caseload alone is not enough; some types of cases may be so rudimentary that an attorney effectively could process a thousand in a year, while others may be so complex and time-consuming that handling more than a few could work a hardship. It is necessary, therefore, that the circumstances of each withdrawal motion be examined; only when actual harm to a defendant's constitutional right to effective representation exists or is imminent should withdrawal be allowable. This view of the specific statute at issue is consistent with the remaining provisions of the statute. *See* § 27.5303(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (in cases of actual conflict, "[t]he court shall deny the motion to withdraw if the court

finds the grounds for withdrawal are insufficient or the asserted conflict is not prejudicial to the indigent client"); *see also* <u>Fla. Dep't of Envtl. Prot. v.</u> <u>ContractPoint Fla. Parks LLC</u>, 986 So. 2d 1260, 1265 (Fla. 2008) ("A statute should be interpreted to give effect to every clause in it, and to accord meaning and harmony to all of its parts and is not to be read in isolation, but in the context of the entire section.") (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).

When the proper interpretation of the statute is applied, each of Bowens's arguments fails. First, the statute does not violate the inherent authority of the courts; a trial court may permit withdrawal when actual or imminent harm to the constitutional right of effective representation has been shown. Under the language of the statute, a court has the authority to rectify constitutional violations stemming from ineffective representation that is shown via various factors (that may include excessive workload). Although courts have a central role in protecting constitutional liberties, including the right to effective assistance of counsel, the judicial branch must take care to ensure that its actions are necessary, narrowly drawn, and incrementally applied when enactments of the legislative branch are implicated. The Third District's approach is the proper one.

Second, the statute does not conflict with the Rules of Professional Conduct. The statute does not directly alter how attorneys are to conduct themselves or how attorney discipline is handled. While PD-11 asserts it will violate the rules by continuing to represent indigent defendants with resulting caseloads, no evidence in the record shows that any Bar complaint, let alone an actual violation against a PD-11 attorney, has occurred because of the attorney's or the office's caseload (or workload). Nor has PD-11 pointed to a single such complaint or violation in prior years or the three and a half years that have passed since the trial court's decision in this case was stayed.

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